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The present historic district encompasses eight acres, more or less, focussed upon 
Constitution Square. The Square is a public park owned and maintained by the State. 
It includes replicas of the three original buildings on the Old Public Square in which 
were held the meetings that formed the Commonwealth of Kentucky, and the relocated and 
reconstructed original building that housed the first U. S. Post Office west of the Alleghenies 
(see Congressional Record, Thursday, Ocotber 11, 1951). The square is surrounded by 
nine structures which are important to city, state, and nation. These include log, frame, 
and brick construction. Among these are:

c. 1786 - Grayson Tavern
c. 1790 - The Apothecary Shop (previously listed on the National Register).
c. 1790 - Ayres Silversmith Shop
c. 1802 - Ephraim McDowell House (listed on the National Register prior to the National

	Preservation Act of 1966 as a National Historic Landmark). 
c. 1810 - Alban Gold Smith House 
c. 1816 - Fisher's Row Houses (Blue Row) 
c. 1816 - Watt-Bell House 
c. 1820 - Brick Schoolhouse 
c. 1820 - Brick Dependency

There are two intrusions in the district which are part of the Urban Renewal project. They 
are doctors' offices, constructed this year, located to the north and south of the Ephraim 
McDowell House.

Description of Boundaries of Historic District (see U. S. G. S. Map).

Bounded on the north by Main Street, on the east by rear property lines east of First 
Street. On the south by property lines north of Walnut Street, and on the west by rear 
property lines west of Second Street.

The original appearance is known on all the buildings mentioned above and quite a lot of 
the original woodwork is still intact.
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Constitution Square Historic District is significant, not only as the birthplace of Danville, 
but as the birthplace of the Commonwealth of Kentucky as well. In 1783, Kentucky was 
formed into a district and a court was established the same year. The first session was 
held in Harrodsburg, but it was later moved to Danville because of its more central lo­ 
cation. Isaac Hite was instructed to build a courthouse for the district on two lots of land 
in Danville in 1785. The courthouse became the permanent quarters of the Supreme Court 
of Kentucky. The site of the courthouse became the public square, the center of Danville, 
and the center of political thought in the State.

The original public square laid out in 1785, was divided into two lots; the northern portion 
held the meeting house and the southern portion the courthouse. The first courthouse was 
constructed of logs and was the site of a series of constitutional conventions which took 
place between 1785-1792 when a constitution was planned and adopted. These conventions 
led to Kentucky County's separation from Virginia. The climax was reached at the last 
convention in 1792, when a constitution was framed and adopted. A few years later a two- 
story brick courthouse was constucted on the site of the original building. The history 
of the square between the time of the dissolution of the District Court in 1792 and 
1817, is uncertain. Since the buildings on the public square no longer served the purpose 
of the citizens of Danville, the trustees of the town decided in 1817 to sell part of the land 
which composed the square and use the money to build Danville Academy. The western 
third of the square (now fronting Second Street) was sold for this purpose. Upon this land 
a market house was constructed. Apparently the idea of a Danville academy only 
worked out on paper, for there is no, record of one ever being formed). In 1823, the 
town trustees sold the portion of the square fronting Main Street and several houses 
were erected.

In 1817, the trustees allowed the Masons to have free use of the courthouse building. 
In 1828 the lot and building were sold to the Masons. They in turn sold it to the 
Methodists in 1834, who sold it to Reverend J. Ada,ms in 1835. Reverend Adams 
acquired two additional lots on the square and established a female academy. 
Shortly afterwards, the Danville Theological Seminary (founded in 1828) was located 
there until approximately 1878.(An.1870 m^ of Danville shows five buildings on the east 
portion of the square (now the State Park) which composed the Danville Theological 
Seminary. These buildings are no longer in existence with perhaps the exception of the 
brick dependency (see #8, page 3). In 1937, Emma Weisinger deeded the land to the

l: Commonwealth of Kentucky in memory of her brother John G. Weisinger. At this time, 
the original two-thirds of the public square (on east side) became a State Park.

___ (continued)
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The early town of Danville developed around the Public Square, thus these buildings in 
the proposed district represent the oldest in Da.nville. They include all phases of early 
Danville life. There are several houses which belonged to prominent members of the 
Danville community along with a tavern, a schoolhouse, and a silversmith's shop. All 
these structures along withGonstitution Square combine to form an integral part of Danville's 
early history and the early political history of the State of Kentucky. Of these buildings, 
three of them have been funded by H. U. D. for historic restoration (one of which is famed 
Grayson Tavern). These and others are on property under contract for purchase by the Ken­ 
tucky Department of Parks from the local Urban Renewal Historic District. Numerous 
buildings in the District will be used and restored by either the Kentucky Department of Parks; 
the American Association of University Women in conjunction with the Board of Education; 
or purchased and restored by the Danville and Boyle County Foundation for Historic Preser­ 
vation for adaptive usage through resale or lease.

The Ayres Silversmith Shop is a two-story frame structure which has been recently restored. 
It is located on the northwest corner of the proposed district. The shop faces north, front­ 
ing on Main Street. The front entrance is located in the center of the facade. The front 
door has five horizontal panels and a three-light transom above (see photo 1). The Ayres 
Silversmith shop is probably the oldest building on Main Street, perhaps dating prior to 1790. 
The Ayres brothers, Thomas, a silversmith, and Samuel, a dentist, purchased the house in 
1833 from Dr. Jefferson Polk (see Alban Gold Smith House, #8, page 3). Thomas Ayres 
made most of the old silver in and around Danville. He later moved to Iowa, but silversmith 
George Sharp kept up the business. The building is presently used as* an office for a real 
estate agency. To the east of the silversmith shop, a new one-story doctor's office has been 
constructed (isolating the house from the proposed district).

Fisher's Row Houses are located on the northeast corner of the proposed district. They 
face west, looking onto Constitutional Square. They consist of two, two-story brick struct­ 
ures joined together by a common wall. The brick is laid in Flemish bond and rests on 
field stone foundations (see photo 4). They are presently being restored. The row houses 
were constructed by Jeremiah Fisher in 1817. They were built for the purpose of renting 
and were popular residences at that time. Fisher sold the houses inj.850 and their use 
after that date is uncertain.

The Watt-Bell House is adjacent to Fisher's Row Houses and also faces west looking onto 
Constitution Square. It is a two-story brick structure with the bricks laid in Flemish bond, 
with queen closers at the ends. The house is asymmetrical (see photo 4). Originally the 
house appears to have had a public use. Off the entrance hall to the left is one large room 
downstairs and upstairs. In the back of the entrance hall is an original outside door with

(continued)
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four horizontal panels over two vertical ones. In many places the original chair railing 
remains along with the original wattle -and-daub plaster. The Watt- Bell House is also in 
the process of being restored. The house was built in 181.8 by William Watts. A year later 
it was purchased by David Bell, a leading Danville merchant. His son, Joshua Fry Bell 
(1811-1870) lived many years here. Joshua Bell was a distinguished lawyer and politician. 
In 1845 he was elected to Congress. He served as Secretary of State under Governor Crit- 
tenden in 1850 and in 1859 he ran for Governor, but was defeated. The last office he held was 
as member of the Kentucky legislature, 1864-1867. It was at Bell's house that the first 
meeting of the Danville Literary and Social Club was held in 1839. Most of the original 
members were Centre College faculty.

A few hundred feet south of the Watt- Bell House is a building known as the brick schoolhouse. 
This structure also faces west, looking onto Constitutional Square. It is a one-story, two- 
room brick structure. The bricks are laid in common bond on a field-stone foundation. The 
front door is off-center and has a one-light transom above (see photo 7). Very little is 
known about the construction date of the schoolhouse or its early history. It is, however, an 
early building and according to local tradition it is believed to have been operated as a 
private school.

The school is situated a few yards to the rear of Gray son Tavern. The tavern is located on 
the southeast corner of the proposed district. It faces south, fronting East Walnut Street. 
Constitution Square is to the west side of the tavern. It is a two-story ell-shaped frame 
building. The tavern has two entrances, one in the front and one to the side. The floor plan 
is asymmetrical. The front door has three horizontal panels at the top and two vertical 
panels at the bottom. There is a five-light transom above (see photo 8). The side door is 
identical to the front with the exception of the absence of the transom and the addition of four 
sidelights. The tavern was built circa 1785 by Benjamin Grayson. It was operated as a tavern 
for a number of years and was a popular gathering place for those who attended the constitut­ 
ional conventions.

The Danville Political Club frequently met here for their discussions and meals. The Polit­ 
ical Club was formed in 1786 by leading men in the area and their purpose was to discuss the 
political issues of the day. The club was important in molding the political sentiment of 
the area.

To the west of Grayson's Tavern, is a small one-story brick dependency that faces west 
(see photo 11). It is on the southern portion of Constitution Square. The brick is laid in com­ 
mon bond on a field stone foundation. It has interior chimneys at each end and a cornice of 
three rows of corbelled brick. There are two front entrances side-by-side in the center of the 
facade. The construction date and original use of the building is uncertain, but is an old build­ 
ing and it is probable that it was constructed as part of the Danville Theological Seminary.
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It is presently used as the caretaker's cottage of Constitution Square.

The Alban Gold Smith House is located on the southwest corner of the proposed district and 
the original public square facing west on Second Street. The house is a story-and-a-half 
brick structure. The facade is laid in Flemish bond, while the side and back are laid in 
common. The front entrance is located in the center of the facade and has wooden panels 
on the sides and above. There are interior chimneys at each end with corbelled tops. Three 
gables and elongated windows were added to the facade of the house at a much later date 
(see photo 13). The house was built prior to 1820. For a number of years the house was the 
residence of Dr. Alban Gold Smith, a prominent surgeon and lecturer. Dr. Gold Smith was 
an assistant and a pupil of Dr. Ephraim McDowell. He assisted Dr. McDowell as he per­ 
formed the first ovariotomy, a far-reaching step in medical and surgical history, on Jane 
Crawford in 1809. His connection with Dr. McDowell terminated around 1826. Dr. Gold 
Smith later moved to Louisville and in 1833 procurred a charter for the "Medical Institute" 
which was the beginning of the University of Louisville Medical School. In 1837 he moved to 
New York and became a renowned surgeon and lecturer. After studying a few years in 
Europe, he learned the technique of lithotomy and was the first one to perform such surgery 
in Kentucky or in the United States. Dr. Jefferson Polk purchased Dr. Gold Smith's house 
in December 1827. Dr. J. J. Polk was born in Scott County, Kentucky in March 1802. He 
later moved to Lexington, Kentucky and worked for Thomas T. Skilman's printing company. 
Shortly after marrying Eliza Tod of Lexington, he moved to Danville, Kentucky in 1826. The 
same year Polk bought the Olive Branch, a Danville newspaper founded in 1820, by James 
Armstrong. During the cholera scourge in 1833, he developed an interest in the practice of 
medicine. In 1839, he attended medical school in Lexington. After a year of study he re­ 
turned to Danville and began a full practice. In the fall of 1840, Dr. Polk moved ten miles 
west of Danville to Perryville, Kentucky.

Across the street from the Gold Smith House, facing east on Second Street is another new 
one-story doctor's office. The Dr. Ephraim McDowell House and Apothecary Shop is north 
of the new structure (see photo 14 and 15). The house faces Constitution Square. This two- 
story frame house and brick apothecary shop has already been listed on the National Register 
(prior to the National Preservation Act of 1966) and is a National Historic Landmark.

In the center of the proposed historic district is Constitution Square State Park established 
in 1937. The Square is a State owned and maintained park. On the park are replicas of 
three original buildings, one of which served as the first Kentucky district courthouse in 
1785 (see photo 17). These buildings were the site of the constitutional conventions held 
in Danville between 1785-1792, that led to the formation of the State of Kentucky in 1792. 
To the north of the Square is the relocated original building which houses the First U. S. 
Post Office west of the Alleghenies (see photo 18).
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No documentation of the locations of the original courthouse, jail, and meeting house 
exists. Although the replicas of the three original buildings in the square were not 
constructed on the original foundations, an attempt was made to locate them as 
authentically as possible. The recollections of the oldest citizens in Danville, at the 
time, were a major source of information in . constructing the three buildings.
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Historic Archaeology

A preliminary archaeological survey was conducted at Constitution Square, primarily to 
observe the quantity and types of artifacts present on the surface. Numerous artifacts 
were recovered and will be discussed briefly in major categories.

The earliest ceramics collected were various sherds of pearlware, in green shell-edged, 
blue and brown banded, monochrome blue, and undecorated. Ironstone was present in blue 
monochrome, a rim sherd with a thin gold band, and two sherds of undecorated from England. 
These latter sherds were from John Haddock & Sons (post 1891) and Johnson Brothers 
(post 1883).

Stoneware was discovered in forms of brown and white salt-glazed, some with white exterior 
and brown interior and a single sherd with a sky blue, painted interior.

Miscellaneous earthenwares consisted of a Rockingham-type rim sherd, yellow wares, a 
"dark" yellow ware with a linear relief design in brown, and sherds of the flow blue type.

Porcelain was collected in forms of underglazed blue designs, a platter sherd with a border 
decoration in a grey green, as well as undecorated. Other artifacts of a ceramic nature 
recovered at Constitution Square were a bisque doll's head and a molded, glazed bowl 
fragment of a clay smoking pipe. A vestige of a foot or "heel" is present on the base of 
the bowl, however no maker's mark is present on the fragment. Although various works 
on smoking pipes were consulted, none illustrated were similar in design to that found. 
General characteristics indicate that it is likely of 19th century orgin.

Glass artifacts collected from the surface included a fragment of flat sheet glass measuring 
only 1/32" in thickness, five fragments of sun colored amethyst glass (c. 1880-1914), a heavy 
dark brown fragment from a bottle with embossing "NNAT" (probably Cincinnati), and a 
post 1929 medicinal bottle from the Owens-Illinois glass works plant number 9.

Also found was a bone-handled toothbrush with "(H.) E. Samuel Danville, KY" inscribed on 
its handle. All artifacts collected are currently stored at the archaeological facilities of 
the Kentucky Heritage Commission in Frankfort.

As viewed from the standpoint of historical archaeology, Constitution Square appears quite 
rich and could be researched and developed extensively in this vein.
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CONSTITUTION SQUARE — site, 1784-1792, 
of the "10 Conventions," a constitution.

1 . Post Office - original building of 1792, 
moved here from another site.

2. 1st Meeting House - Replica of one erected) 
circa 1784, used by newly organized I 
Presbyterian Church. j

3. Jail - Replica of the original. i

4. Court House - Replica of house used by !
Supreme Court of District of Kentucky, |
March 14, 1785 and by the Constitu- !
tional Convention. !

5. Grayson's Tavern - built circa 1786 and ' 
operated as a tavern.

6. Watts-Bell House - built before 1817. j 
The Danville Social and Liberary Club j 
(now called Anaconda) began meeting 
here in 1839. \

7. Fisher's Row - built prior to 1816, one ! 
of Kentucky's earliest row houses. |

8. GOLDSMITH HOUSE- 
Built early 1820s by 
associate of Dr. McDowell.

9. KENTUCKY SCHOOL 
FOR THE DEAF, 1823. 
Moved to this sits 1832. 
Jacobs Hall 1857, is a 
National Historic Monu­ 
ment.

10. EPHRAIM McDOWELL 
HOUSE, built prior to 1802. 
Scene of ovariotomy in 
1809.

HISTORIC DANVILLE 
____ (A Walking Tour)

11. AYRES SILVERSHOP - prior to 1833 and 
probably oldest building on Main Street.

12. TRINITY EPISCOPAL CHURCH - 1830. 
Oldest Danville church building. Rebuilt on 
original walls after great fire of 1860.

13. COURTHOUSE - 1844. Rebuilt after great 
fire, 1862, in time to be used as hospital for 
wounded soldiers of Perryville Battle.

14. IVY HALL - circa 1845. Insert portico is a 
variation of usual Russell style.

15. PRESBYTERIAN CHURCH - 1831. Earlier, 
1788 and 1812 buildings were just west of this.

16. McDOWELL PARK - the church cemetery 
with graves of Dr. McDowell, Rev. Rice and 
other notables of Danville's early days.

17. CENTRE'S REGIONAL ARTS CENTER, 1973 
Facilities for music, theatre, painting sculpture. 
Exhibits, such as that of "Postwar Painting" from 
the Guggenheim Museum.

W. LEX IN GTONAVE.

N

CENTRE 
COLLEGE

20
W. BROADWAY

21

«-TO PfRRYVILLE

19

+ Rtt STATION 
I BLOCK

CENTRE 
COLLEGE

15

16

W. MAIN

W. WALNUT
17

24

23| 
22

13

12
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25
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18. CENTRE'S COWAN-S1NING HALL

19. "OLD CENTRE" (administration building) 
1820.

20. AYRES-WEISIGER HOUSE - built between 
1832-1837. Few changes since in this early ex­ 
pression of Greek Revival influence. An unusually 
handsome colonial.

21. BATTERTON HOUSE - 1832.

22. DANVILLE PUBLIC LIBRARY - 1937.

23. TODD, McKEE, CHEEK HOUSE - 1836 or 
1837. Basically a Kentucky Georgian.

24. MONTGOMERY-RODES HOUSE - circa 
1836. Georgian (Kentucky colonial) architec­ 
ture.

25. PHILIP YEISER HOUSE - 1804-1808. A 
Georgian center with wings added later in Greek 
Revival style. An elegant example of a Russell 
built mansion.

27M
E. LEXINGTON

261

E. BROADWAY

_______£. MAIN
——•! 7m 

• 2 60
8 "3 I
• •45ri______

E. WALNUT

ST.

E. GREEN ST.

26. A MODERNIZED 
LOG HOUSE - 136E. 
Lexington Ave. One 
of a number of tiouses 
incorporating within 
their walls a very early 
resident's log house.

27. DANVILLE HIGH 
SCHOOL
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Legend of the Sketch Map

1. Ay res Silversmith Shop (photo 1).
2. A new one-story doctor's office.
3. Fisher's Row Houses (Blue Row) (photo 4).

5. Brick Schoolhouse (photo 7).
6. Grayson Tavern (photo 8).

6 A. The reconstructed kitchen for Grayson Tavern (photo 8).
7. Brick Dependency (photo 11).
8. The Dr. Alban Goldsmith House (photo 13).
9. A new one-story doctor's office.

10. The Ephraim McDowell House (photo 14).
11. The Apothecary Shop (photo 15).
12. The relocated original building that housed the first U.S. Post Office west 

	of the Alleghenies (photo 18).
13. A replica of the first meeting house circa 1784.
14. A replica of the original jail (photo 16).
15. A replica of the courthouse used by the Supreme Court of District of

	Kentucky and by the Constitutional Convention (photo 17). 
16* An intrusion which is to be torn down in the near future.
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